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1. Name

hiatoric The Midwest Athletic Club

and/or common  The Midwest Hotel

2. Location

street & number § North Hamlin | —— not for publication
city, town Chicago ~— vicinity of
state I1linois code O/Z county  Cook code O3 |
3. Classification
Category Ownership Status Prasent Use .
. district —— public —— Occupied ——— agricuiture — Museum
& building(s) _X_ private — unoccupied - commercial —— park
— structure —— both X work in progress —— educational —— private residence
— site Public Acquisition Accessibie —— entertainment — religious
— object —__in process -X%-- yes: restricted — government —— scientitic
— being considered — Yes: unrestricted —— industrial — transportation
— no —— military — other:

4. Owner of Property

name Ja]n_les Clé_l:.'_l_(

street & number 46 Lake Street

city. town  0ak Park — vicinity of state 7974004 60302
5. Location of Legal Description

courthouse, registry of deeds, etc. Cook County Recorder of Deeds

street & number 118 North Clark Street

city, town Chicago state_1lligois
6. Representation in Existing Surveys

title i « - has this property been determined eligible? ___yes _K_ no

date 1972 ' —_federai _x_ state ___county __ local

Divisicn of Historic Sites
depositary for survey records Ii1lincis Department of Conserwation

city, town 405 East Washington, Springfield state T1linois




7. Description

Check one

Condition chfck

X oxcellent (ex—___ deteriorated _x * Uhaft ) x original site
—__good teriorl njins. Xniferg,y ——moved date
Yenff1or) ~ —— umexposed

Describe the present and original (if known) physical appearance

The thirteen-story structure designed to house the Midwest Athletic Club 1is a free-
standing L-shaped building located on the northern edge of Garfield Park at the North-
west intersection of Hamlin Avenue and Madison Street. Nine bays face Hamlin; seven
face Madison. It is a fireproof steel-frame bulldéng with overall dimensions measuring
144" on Hamlin x 122' on Madison. The first two stories are sheathed in cream-colored
terra cotta; the upper eleven are a buff-colored brick. Ornamental trim is terra cotta.
Crowning the building is a recessed mansard roof.

The exterior integrity of the building is excellent. Its handsome terra cotta
Baroque trim is totally intact as 1s the cast-dronwork surrounding the entrances to the
main lobby and the athletic facility. First-floor store fronts and the second- story
windows are being rehabilitated to conform with the building’s original appearance.

There is an aesthetic cohesiveness to the building's clearly defined exterior de-
sign. The arch is the keynote. Triple arches form an arcade pattern on every bay of
the second story where the dining rooms were located. This is repeated in taller windows
o .. alternating bays on the fifth floor which housed club offices in front and a two-
story gymnasium with running track in the rear. Above each of these bays terra cotta
trim in a rope pattern separating the three windows runs up six stories culminating in
yet another triple arch. These six floors and that above contained the building's 171
hotel rooms. The Club had two ballrooms, expressed on the building's exterior by
- monumental two-story arches filling each bay. On the exterior of the third-fourth
floor ballroom the arches are set off by recessed terra cotta work, and have balustrades
at the base. Between each arch is a tall low-relief twisted column topped by-an urn.
Terra cotta medallions containing human busts are found between the arches. The two
story thirteenth-floor.ballroom also has tall arches trimmed in terra cotta filling each

bay.

The building, on the exterior, is very simply and clearly divided into sections.
The first two floors; faced in terra cotta, form a visual base. .. Separated by a Greek-
key frieze and balustrade is the third-fourth floor arcade where the downstairs ball-
room is located. Above, separated by a second balustrade and a small cornice with
monogramed (MAC) shields marking-each bay,is the Club office floor with. tall windows
topped by arches or deep cornices. The hotel floors above end abruptly at a bracketed
cornice with round finials. Above the cornice is the grand ballroom clearly defined by
the second two-story arcade. Pilasters between the arches support finials projecting
above the building's parapet. Set behind the parapet, the building's mansard roof,
elaborated with segmental arched gables at the cormers, houses mechanical equipment.

There are two entrances to the building -~ one to the lobby and one that accessed
the athletic facilities and ballrooms directly. Both doorways are of ornamental cast
iron, with the Club initials in a shield above. .

Except for the lobby all other major interior spaces retain their integrity. In
the basement is an olympic-size swimming pool. The floors at the pool level and on a
balcony above are of colored mosaic in a geometric pattern. The pattern is continued
into the pool. The other important athletic facility -- the fifth floor gymnasium is
also intact. It's a two story space with®running track (24 laps/mile) on a balcony

overlooking the gym. !
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The ballrooms have been altered little. There has been no subdivision of space.
The third floor ballroom has large brass chandelier®and sconces that have only been
painted. A beamed ceiling is painted in geometric, Renaissance-inspired patterns.
The wooden door to the room is flanked by Renaissance ornamented pilasters and topped
by a broken pediment with a shield above containing the Club initials. The top floor
ballroom has its original window configurations. There are French doors on the east
side opening onto a shallow balcony. Even today, the view across Garfield Park to the
Loop is uninterrupted by any tall buildings.

Inside, the lobby has been altered, with a dropped ceiling and new walls,
Originally the lobby was a two-story space.surrounded by a balcony accessed by stairs.
The stairway, with its cast iron balustrade, is there, but firewalls have been added.
Future plans are to restore the lobby and remove the firewalls.

The building is'currently undergoing a renovation that complies with the Secretary
of the Interior’s Standards for Rehabilitation.




8. Siﬁgnificance

Period Areas of Significance—Check and justify below - - .

___ prehistorlc ___ archeology-prehistoric __ community pianning _ landscape archﬂoctum;_z_}éiigion

. 1400-1499 ____ archeology-historic — . conservation — law — SCiance

— 15001589 __ agriculture — economics — literature — SCuipture

—_1600-1699 _x_ architecture - education — military .X_ social

—_1700-1799% ____art — engineering —. music humanitarian

— 1800-1899 __ commerce — exploration/settlement ____ philosophy — theater

X 1900~ ___ communications —— industry —— politics/government _.__ transportation
—— invention . .- — other (specify)

Specific dates 1926-1928 Builder/Architect MiChm_&_RanS; ad

Statement of Significance (in one paragraph) LS

The Midwest Athletic Club is significant for two basic reasons. Historically, it
was the focus of community iife in Garfield Park during the years the Club existed.
Architecturally, it is a prominent, well-designed building, stylistically reflecting
the historicism popular during the period and exhibiting a kind of elegance, although
subdued, you would expect to find in a Club building for the elite members of a com-
munity. Finally, all of - the exterior of the building and the major public spaces,
excepting a remodeled lobby, have retained their integrity.

[P} aa ceba e v

The Club, which grew out of the West Town Chamber of Commerce, the Active Club and
the Garfield Park Club, was grantedtrﬁi-State Charter in January, 1924. Arrangements
were made for the sale of memberships and the name Midwest Athletic Club was selected.
Founders included about a dozen west side leaders, many, prominent heads of businesses.
Frank A. Alden, President of the Central Oak Park State Bank was the first President.
Other officers included Mark Shanks, President of the Standard Ice Cream Company, and
A. H. Smith, President of the Madison and Kedzie State Bank. By July of 1924, the
Club had its own publication. Enthusiasm was high; it was written "the Club will be
the greatest factor in making the west side even greater.” '

After careful study, the Club selection committee picked a site, one considered
by member-Charles A. Pipenhagen "the finest spot for the.purpose-on the entire west
side.”"” The Club was to be in a prominent location, on the north edge of Garfield Park.
The park (along with Douglas and Humboldt Parks) was laid out by William LeBaron Jenney
in the 1870's and improved in 1905 by Jens Jensen, who was the general supertntendent
and landscape architect for the West Side Park €ommission. He désigned the famous
Garfield Conservatory (the largest publicly owned conservatory in the United States)
and laid out the park, with its beautiful lagoons, drives, statuary, walks and formal
gardens. This was the view the Club was to have -- the park and an uninterrupted view
to downtown Chicago.

The architects selected to design the building were €lub members Michaelsen &
Rognstad. They were requested to prepare sketches and layouts for a $1,000,000 building.
To again quote Pipenhagen, who wrote "A Historical Review of the Midwest Athletic Clu "
for the Club publication circa 1930 "after a hurried trip to several eastern cities to
study athletic club buildings completed only a short time before so that the Midwest
might have the very last desirable features in club homes obtainable: Work on plans
started January 1, 1926. Ground was broken January 30, 1926, and the Club had its
official opening in March, 1928. The building was completed at a cost of $1,800,000.

By 1928, the Midwest Athletic Club had 2000 members. Members consisted of
prominent west side businessmen (and their families) including bank presidents and the
leading officers of local businesses. This can readily be seen from the attached roster
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of officers. A 1list of bondholders was said {(in a.January 9, 1952 Chicago Tribune
article) to have read like "the west side 400 pPast and present,'

It was a very cohesive neighborhood. According to an October 15, 1931 article in
The Garfieldian, west siders (many of whom were native white of Irish extraction)
always thought of themselves as a "city within a city." An article in the March 24, 1928
Chicago Daily News entitled "West Side takes its Place in the sun" makes very clear the
important role the Club was to play. "With the completion of the Midwest Athletic Club
building west siders believe they have taken a long step forward in solidifying the west
side and in making possible closer cooperation on matters of interest to the community.
While the Club is purely a social organization, it affords a meeting place for west
side men that has formerly been lacking. "

The Club was a vital part of the community, and remained 80, if on a smaller scale,
after the Depression. Even before the building was constructed, in 1926, a women's
auxiliary was formed and at one point had 450 members. It sponsored social events and
had, in the building, its own dining room and lounge; from the beginning, the Club was
not just to be a luncheon club for men.

The Midwest Athletic Club could not have offered finer sports facilities -- an
olympic pool, handball courts, a billiard room, a gymnasium with running track. This
was in addition to a library, exercise and sleeping rooms, public and private dining
rooms and two large ballrooms.

The Club building went into receivorship in 1930 and became a hotel. Still the
Club itself remained in operation sponsoring social and athletic events and survived to
celebrate its tenth anniversary, despite its dire financial straits.

It is an inferestisg fact that the Club was named the Midwest Athletic Club and not,
say, the Garfield Park Athletic Club ~- despite its strong community ties. The founders
thought of the Club as a very status place.

From researching clubs at the Chicago Historical Society and Burnham Library of the
Art Institute of Chicago, it appears that there were no comparable clubs in any
neighborhood of the city . There was the 1889 Country Club of Edgewater and the 1916
South Shore Country Club, but no social and athletic club outside the downtown or near-
north area. The closest comparison might be the Racquet Club at 1363 North Dearborn
designed by Rebori, Wentworth, Dewey and MeCormick, 1923, but this building is nowhere
near the size of the Midwest Athletic Club. Many of the downtown clubs were older, had
larger memberships and fine facilities but they were founded around other considerations
than the surrounding community. The Union League Club was founded as a Republican Society;
the University Club had a membership requisite of college graduation.
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Even after the building changed hands and becgme a hotel, it remained a neighbor-
hood landmark. The owners, to attract clientel, promoted its comvenience to some 3500
nearby industries. In the 1940's, the building was owned by Arthur Wirtz, who housed
and trained many of his stadium athletes, including prizefighters and the Blackhawks,
there. Lights for a boxing ring are still set up in the gymnasium.

Architecturally, the Club building is significant in a number of ways. Even though
the building was not designed by any well-known architectural firm, its fine detailing,
generally inspired by Baroque architecture)and its asstletic cohesiveness contribute to
a high quality design. In addition,it has a sense of dignity and monumentality you'd
expect to find in a private club not unlike that found in the Illinois Athletic Club,
112 South Michigan or the Chicago Athletic Associationm, 12 South Michigan. The Club
building's importance is particularly clear because of its prominent location, over-
looking Garfield Park and the city and because of its sheer size in relation to the
residential neighborhood and low-scale commercial buildings surrounding it, even today.

The Midwest Athletic Club building, although suffering from a histegy of financial
woes, stands proudly, with its exterior architectural integrity totally intact. A
facility unequalled in any Chicago neighborhood, it serves as a reminder of the once
thriving community surrounding it.
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HOMER D. JONES, President
Pres. Western Fuel Company
MARK SHANKS, Pirst Vice-Pres.
Pres. Stendard I¢ce Cream Co.
B. J. BOEHM, Second Vice-Pres.
Boehm & Winterson
A H. SMITH, Treasurer
Pres. Madison & Kedric State Bank

FRANK A, ALDEN
Pres. Central Cak Park Stete Bank
C. H. BERGGREN
Gulbransen Co.
OTTO H. BERZ
Undertaker
W. D. BOSTELMANN
Pres. D. W, Bosteimenn Co.
OTTO C. BRAESE
Real Estate
J. F, CAHILL
Baker, Wabkh & Co.
ELMER DE HAVEN
Retired Auto Dealer
GEORGE j]. DEHN
Compound [njector & Specialty Ca.
CHARLES ]. DEMPSEY
Charles J. Dempaey, Inc.
JOHN P. DIFFENDERFFER
Real Estaze
RAYMOND 1, ELLIOTT
King's Model Laundry
HARQLD EBRENHOLTZ
Ebenholtz & Jorgensen
DR. JOHN H. EVANS
Physician
JULIAN T. FITZGERALD
Alfred Johnson Skete Co.
H, 5. W. EOREMAN
Church Publishing Co.

Bunping

MARK SHANKS Chairmen
K. K. BELL
B. J. BOEHM
A. G. GULBRANSEN
CHARLES A. PIPENHAGEN
A. H. SMITH

MEMBERSHIP SALES

B. J. BOEHM, Chairman
. X. BELL
1. W, BIXEAS
DR. FRANK BRANEN
DR. ERNEST BROGMUS
WILSON A. SMITH
A, B, MANDELL
RUSSELL A. JONES
CHAS. H. SERUM
J. H. KENNA

PusLiciTY

GEORGE ASMUS, Chairman
T. W, BARKER
F. W. BOND
E. B. DOTY
A. G. GULBRANSEN
WALTER KIEHN

Michaelsen &' Rognstad, Architects

‘u—{%‘ AMLIN AVENUE
adison and Hamlin

WB WERNER, Club Manager
&

CHARLES A. PIPENHAGEN, Sec’y
Sec y-Tress. Pinn-Wf;Erjront Ca.
K. K. BELL
ViceePres. Calumet Baking Powder Co.

A. G. GULBRANEEN
Pres.-Treas, Gulbransen Co.

Telephone
Kepzie 4401

Georce W. SMITH, Fiscal Agent

OrFrrFicerRs AND DIRECTORS

GEORGE ASMUS
Gen. Mgr., Schiller's, the Flovist
RALPH F. KOPPERSCHMIDT
Folds Buck & Company
] SIXEAS
Pres. West Mcduon State Bank
H. D. YELTON
Pres. Inland Supply Co.

Boarp or GOVERNORS

WM. A. GALVIN
Treazsurer Guaranty [ron & Steel Co.
ROBERT A. GARDINER
Pres. Gardiner Metal Co.
GEOQ. BE. HART
Pres. Geo. E. Hert, Inc,
HERBERT HINCHLIFFE
Cartage Concractor
ODE D. JENNINGS

D. Jennings & Co.
WALTER KIEHN
Adv, Mgr. Guibransen Ca.
FRANK L, KOHLHASE
Pres. Natl. Stamping & Electric Works
JOHN LEVIN
“Little Jack's'™ Restaurans
JAMES M. LOUGHLIN
ALBERT J. HORAN
A. j. Horen & Co
A, B. MANDELL
Vice-Pres. Wengler & Mandell
JOSEPH MILLS
Metropolitan Life Insurance Co.
RAY F. MUDD
Ray F. Mudd Motor Co.

E. B. DOTY
RALPH M, NELSON
Sioan Valve Co.

C. NIELSEN, JR.
Pines-Winterfront Co.

OTTO I, PELIKAN
Pelikan Brothers

WALTER P. POWERS
Restanrant

JOHN H. ROSBERG
]. H. Rosberg Mlg. Ca

R. J. ROSS
Guarancy Iron & Steel Co.
LOUIS O. RUNNER
Central Plazs Hotel
FRED R. SARGENT
Liverposl, London & Globe [ns.

EGBERT SCHRIK
Contractor
WILLIAM SCHUKRAFT
William Schukraft & Sons
WILSON A. SMITH
Cribben & Sexton Co.
LEROY P. SULLIVAN
Sullivan-Morgen Motor Coa.
REINHARDT VOLKMAN
Volkmen & Co.
J. D. WALLACE
].D. Wallece & Co.
LEWIS M. WATSON
General Counsel Gea, M. Forman & Co.
SOL WESTERFELD
Wholessle Meats

W. P. WHITNEY
W. P. Whitney Ford Agency

Co.

Crus COMMITTEES

ATHLETIC
JULIAN T. FITZGERALD, Chairman
WALTER MARGGRAF
JAMES P. McWHIRTER

FRED R. SARGENT
WALTER WRIGHT

Hooper & Janusch, Supervising Enginecrs

House

H. C. YELTON, Chairman
HOWARD DE HAVEN
E. B. DOTY
RAYMOND J. ELLIOTT
FRANK L. XOHLHASE
RALPH M. NELSON
W. F. WHITNEY

ENTERTAINMENT

RALPH P. KOPPERSCHMIDT, Chm.
OTTO H, BRAESE
CHARLES |, DEMP3EY
WALTER KIEHN
WALTER F. MARGGRAF
EGBERT SCHRIK
CHARLES M. JESSUP

GoLr

EGBERT SCHRIK, Chairman
J. W. SIXBAS, Vice-Chairman
T. W. BARKER
CLINTON BERRY
W. D. MARTIN
JOHN SCHRIK
BUGENE SMITH

Ekenhoitzr & Jorgensen, Builders
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The North 33 feet of the South 158 feet of Lot 5 (excapt'that part thereof
conveyed to the City of Chicago, by deed dated August 12, 1893, and recorded
in the Recorder's Office of Cook County, IL, July 7, 1894, as document no.
2070355 in Book 4908, Page 290) in Runyan and Curtis' Subdivision of the
East 5 acres of that part lying South of Lake Street of the West 1/2 of the
Southwest 1/4 of Section 11, Town 39 North, Range 13, East of the Third
Principal Meridilan.

Also: The West 110 feet of the South 125 feet of Lot 5 in Runyan and
Curtis' Subdivision of the East 5 acres of that part of the West 1/2 of the
Southwest 1/4 lying South of Lake Street of Section 11 aforesaid.

Also: Lot 10 (except the North 10 feet thereof) in Block 4 in Evans and
Others' Subdivision of Blocks 1, 2, 3, and 4, in Osborne's Subdivision of
the West 5 acres of the East 10 acres of that part lying South of Lake
Street of the East 1/2 of the West 1/2 of the Southwest 1/4 of Section 11,
Town 39 North, Range 13, East of the Third Principal Meridian, in Cook
County, IL. Commonly known as 6 N. Hamlin St., Chicago, IL. '
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